### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

GOLDY RAYBON,

Defendant and Appellant.

[And four other cases.]

Case No. S256978

SUPREME COURT FILED

DEC 5 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case Nos. C084853, C084911, C084960, C084964, and C085101

Sacramento County Superior Court, Case Nos. 09F08248, 13F03230, 08F07402, 12F00411, and 06F11185 The Honorable Curtis M. Fiorini, Judge

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did Proposition 64, which generally legalized the simple possession of less than an ounce of cannabis, also legalize such possession in state prisons and other custodial institutions?

#### INTRODUCTION

Prison inmates are subject to "the necessary withdrawal or limitation of many privileges and rights ...." (*Pell v. Procunier* (1974) 417 U.S. 817, 822, citation omitted.) These limitations further multiple goals, the "central" of which is "the institutional consideration of internal security within the corrections facilities themselves." (*Id.* at p. 823.) At issue here is the longstanding, comprehensive statutory scheme preventing access to contraband items—including cannabis—in custodial institutions. That scheme "flow[s] from the assumption that drugs, weapons, and other contraband promote disruptive and violent acts in custody, including gang involvement in the drug trade." (*People v. Low* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 372, 387-388.) The ban on contraband is "prophylactic"; it "attack[s] the "very presence" of such items in the penal system." (*Id.* at p. 388.)

The voters of course have the power to alter this statutory scheme. (See *Ross v. RagingWire Telecommunications, Inc.* (2008) 42 Cal.4th 920, 930 [construing effect of Compassionate Use Act of 1996 on employment law].) They could, for example, decide to legalize the possession of cannabis in custodial institutions, overriding the Legislature's policy choices and the existing prerogative of custodial officials to authorize—or not—individual inmates' access to prescription and over-the-counter drugs. The question here is whether the voters intended to do so when they passed Proposition 64, the Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act, at the general election in 2016. The answer to this question must focus on the intent of the voters. (*Ross, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at

p. 930; *People v. Valencia* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347, 357.) When the question is whether the voters intended to alter a statutory scheme as comprehensive and longstanding as the one at issue here, there must be a "formally expressed intent" to change the established status quo. (*Ross, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 930; *Valencia, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 390.) Failing to hew closely to the voters' intent would result in "unintended consequences," which would "strengthen[] neither the initiative power nor the democratic process." (*Valencia, supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 386, quoting *Ross, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 930.)

There is no suggestion that the voters intended to legalize the possession of cannabis in custodial institutions when they passed Proposition 64. The Official Voter Information Guide presented the voters with ten pages of summaries, analyses, and arguments about the regulated legalization of cannabis use by members of the general public. (Official Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) pp. 90-99 ("Voter Guide").)¹ But that part of the Guide contained not one word about the separate, comprehensive, and longstanding prohibitions on cannabis in custodial institutions, much less analysis or argument putting voters on notice that Proposition 64 would profoundly affect those prohibitions. And, in the 30-plus pages of the initiative's text, there was only a single mention of cannabis in prisons—in a saving clause specifying that Proposition 64 would *not* amend or repeal laws "pertaining to smoking or ingesting cannabis" in custodial institutions. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.45, subd. (d); Voter Guide, *supra*, at pp. 178-210.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A complete copy of the Voter Guide is available at <a href="https://vig.cdn.sos.ca.gov/2016/general/en/pdf/complete-vig.pdf">https://vig.cdn.sos.ca.gov/2016/general/en/pdf/complete-vig.pdf</a> [as of Dec. 3, 2019].

Appellants are present or former inmates seeking relief from contraband convictions that were final prior to the passage of Proposition 64. They rely on a negative implication—that Proposition 64 would repeal all other laws applying to state prisons and custodial institutions that are not framed precisely in terms of "smoking" or "ingesting" cannabis. But that crabbed reading does not reasonably flow from the broad "pertaining to" terminology. And appellants' reading would undermine the purposes of Proposition 64 and cause serious unintended consequences. Proposition 64 was intended to create a legal, regulated market for the general public's recreational use of cannabis—not to undermine laws that ensure order and safety, and prevent underground markets and gang activity, inside prison walls.

Proposition 64 did not contain the formally expressed intent necessary to legalize the possession of cannabis in custodial institutions. The judgment of the Court of Appeal should be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Decision of the Superior Court: Proposition 64 Did Not Repeal Laws Banning Cannabis in Custodial Institutions

This case involves a consolidated appeal by five appellants: Anthony Cooper, Dwain Davis, Scott Haynes, James Potter, and Goldy Raybon. (Cooper CT 41 [notice of appeal]; Davis CT 18 [same]; Haynes CT 49 [same]; Potter CT 36 [same]; Raybon CT 64 [same]; see *People v. Raybon* (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 111, 113.) The proceedings involving Raybon are representative.

In 2009, the Sacramento County District Attorney filed a complaint charging Raybon with violating Penal Code section 4573.6. (Raybon CT 10.) That statute makes it a felony to knowingly possess certain items—including "any controlled substances, the possession of which is prohibited

by Division 10 (commencing with Section 11000) of the Health and Safety Code"—in a state prison or other custodial institution without administrative authorization. (Pen. Code, § 4573.6, subd. (a).)<sup>2</sup> The complaint alleged in particular that Raybon had possessed marijuana in Folsom State Prison without being authorized to do so by the rules or by prison officials. (Raybon CT 10.) In 2011, Raybon pleaded nolo contendere and the court sentenced him to a consecutive term of four years in prison, an enhanced sentence based on a prior felony. (*Id.* at pp. 5-6.)

In 2016, the voters approved Proposition 64, the Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act. (Prop. 64, § 1, approved by voters, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016).)<sup>3</sup> The Act included, among other things, a provision legalizing certain acts involving 28.5 grams or less of cannabis by persons 21 years of age or older. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.1, added by Prop. 64, § 4.4.) In particular, the legalization provision states that it "shall be lawful under state and local law, and shall not be a violation of state or local law" for a person 21 years of age or older to possess, transport, or give away not more than 28.5 grams of cannabis, "[s]ubject to" other enumerated provisions. (*Id.* at subd. (a).) The listed provisions include a savings provision that lists various laws that are not affected by the legalization provision. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.45, added by Prop. 64,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See text of statute at pages 19-20, post.

³ Proposition 64 used the term "marijuana" to refer to "all parts of the plant Cannabis sativa L., whether growing or not; the seeds thereof; the resin extracted from any part of the plant; and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds or resin." (Former Health & Saf. Code, § 11018, as amended by Prop. 64, § 4.1.) The Legislature subsequently substituted the term "cannabis" for "marijuana" throughout the Health and Safety Code. (Stats. 2017, ch. 27, §§ 113-160.) Proposition 64 is described in additional detail at pages 23-28, post.

§ 4.8.) Expressly excepted from the legalization provision are "[1]aws pertaining to smoking or ingesting cannabis or cannabis products on the grounds of or within, any facility or institution under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation ... ." (*Id.* at subd. (d).) The Act also included a provision allowing a person "currently serving a sentence" or who has "completed his or her sentence" to petition or apply for retroactive relief. (*Id.* at § 11361.8, subds. (a) & (e), added by Prop. 64, § 8.7.)

In 2017, Raybon filed a petition to have his contraband conviction dismissed pursuant to Proposition 64. (Raybon CT 31-36.1, 45-50.) The People opposed the petition, arguing that the Act did not change contraband law or entitle Raybon to retroactive relief. (Raybon CT 37-41.)

The superior court denied Raybon's petition. (Raybon CT 51-62.) The court observed that Proposition 64 did not change the classification of cannabis as a controlled substance. (Id. at pp. 55-56, citing Health & Saf. Code, § 11054.) And, although Proposition 64 permits the possession of cannabis by members of the general public under certain circumstances, "incarcerated inmates are routinely subject to different rules and freedoms than members of society." (Id. at pp. 56-57.) The court concluded that the wording of the retroactivity provision evinced the voters' intent that Proposition 64 would apply only to violations of the enumerated Health and Safety Code statutes, not the contraband provisions in the Penal Code. (Raybon CT 59-60.) The court also reasoned that it would have been irrational for the voters to allow prison inmates to possess cannabis while prohibiting them from actually using it. (Id. at p. 61.) Finally, the court observed that Proposition 64 did not expressly repeal or otherwise amend Penal Code section 4573.6, and that courts disfavor repeals by implication. (Raybon CT 62.)

# B. Decision of the Appellate Court: Proposition 64 Legalized the Possession of Cannabis in Custodial Institutions

In 2019, the Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, issued an opinion remanding the matter to the superior court with directions "to enter orders granting the petitions for relief pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 11361.8, subdivision (a)." (Raybon, supra, 36 Cal.App.5th at p. 126.) The court held that "under the plain language of Health and Safety Code section 11362.1, enacted as part of Proposition 64, possession of less than an ounce of cannabis in prison is no longer a felony." (Raybon, at p. 113.) The court began with the language of Penal Code section 4573.6. focusing on its cross-reference to the Health and Safety Code. It reasoned that under its prior decision in *People v. Fenton* (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 965, involving a similar Penal Code provision prohibiting the smuggling of contraband, Penal Code section 4573.6 prohibits the possession of a controlled substance in a custodial institution only if division 10 of the Health and Safety Code would prohibit the same person from possessing the same amount of the same substance outside of prison. (Raybon, at pp. 116-117.)<sup>4</sup> The court also held that the savings clause's reference to laws "pertaining to smoking or ingesting cannabis" in custodial institutions did not except laws that prohibit the smuggling or possession of contraband. (Raybon, at pp. 121-122.) In the court's view, "it stretches the imagination" to believe that the voters had intended the reference to laws "pertaining to smoking or ingesting" cannabis in prison to include the prohibition on possessing cannabis in prison. (Id. at p. 121.) Instead, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In *Fenton*, the Third Appellate District reversed an inmate's conviction under Penal Code section 4573 for smuggling an opioid into a custodial institution, because the inmate had received a prescription for the opioid from an outside practitioner. (20 Cal.App.4th at pp. 966-967.)

court posited that "[t]he purpose of the language is to describe the vast array of means of consumption," and that "consumption, not possession, is the act the voters determined should remain criminalized if the user is in prison." (*Id.* at p. 122.)

### C. Petition for Review: The Division of Authority Between the Opinion Below and *People v. Perry*

The People petitioned for review, pointing to the division of authority between the opinion below and the earlier opinion of the First Appellate District, Division Two, in *People v. Perry* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 885. In that case, an inmate previously convicted of possessing cannabis in prison under Penal Code section 4573.6 petitioned for relief after enactment of Proposition 64. The *Perry* court affirmed the trial court's determination that the inmate petitioner was not entitled to resentencing under Proposition 64. (*Id.* at p. 897.)

The *Perry* court held that "Proposition 64 did not affect existing prohibitions against the possession of marijuana *in prison* or otherwise affect the operation of Penal Code section 4573.6." (*Perry*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.5th at p. 890, original italics.) The court relied in large part on the savings clause in Proposition 64 referring to laws "pertaining to smoking or ingesting cannabis" in custodial institutions. (Health & Saf. Code, § 11362.45, subd. (d).) The court held that the "broad wording" of the savings clause implies "in the strongest of terms" that the legalization provision does not amend or repeal laws prohibiting possession of cannabis in prison. (*Perry*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.5th at pp. 891, 895; see also *id*. at pp. 891-892 ["pertaining to" smoking or ingesting cannabis in prison includes any law "related to" such conduct].)

The court noted the reasonableness of this construction, observing that there was no apparent reason why the voters would have intended to legalize the possession of cannabis in custodial institutions while clearly

intending to prohibit inmates from smoking or ingesting it. (*Perry*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.5th at pp. 892-893.) Indeed, the historical fact that "*possession* has been treated as the *more* culpable conduct makes it even more unreasonable to infer that Proposition 64 was meant to affect existing proscriptions against possession of cannabis in prison while expressly *not* affecting proscriptions against its use." (*Id.* at p. 892, original italics.) In addition, the court observed that the need to maintain safety and order in prisons was not affected by Proposition 64. (*Id.* at p. 895.)

The court also observed that "there is nothing in the ballot materials for Proposition 64 to suggest the voters were alerted to or aware of any potential impact of the measure on cannabis in correctional institutions ...." (*Perry*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.5th at pp. 890, 895.) "The Voter Guide discussed the current state of the law, laws governing medical marijuana, and proposed changes, including limitations on legal use and provisions for regulation and taxation." (*Id.* at pp. 894-895.) But it "did not in any way address the subject of cannabis possession or use in prison." (*Id.* at p. 895.) "The only mention of the subject is in the text of the measure itself and, as we have said, states the opposite intent in the strongest of terms." (*Ibid.*)

In contrast to the *Raybon* court, the *Perry* court held that "[i]t is apparent that Proposition 64, in sections 11362.1 and 11362.45, was intended to maintain the status quo with respect to the legal status of cannabis in prison." (*Perry*, *supra*, 32 Cal.App.5th at pp. 892-893.)

#### LEGAL BACKGROUND

For well over a century, the Legislature has strictly controlled the flow of contraband—including alcohol and drugs—into state prisons and custodial institutions. It has chosen to punish smuggling, possession, and other contraband violations as felonies. At the same time, views about the accepted uses of cannabis by members of the general public have evolved

significantly over the decades, reflected in changes to the Health and Safety Code. What follows is an abbreviated history of the regulation of cannabis under these separate and historically divergent statutory schemes.

# A. The Legislature's Longstanding, Comprehensive, and Prophylactic Approach to Banning Contraband in Custodial Institutions

The Legislature has long recognized that the possession and use of certain items—such as drugs, weapons, and alcohol—within the prison environment "promote[s] disruptive and violent acts in custody," such as "gang involvement in the drug trade." (*People v. Low, supra*, 49 Cal.4th 372, 388.) To avoid the evils associated with such contraband items, the Legislature "chose to take a prophylactic approach to the problem by attacking the very presence of [contraband] in prisons and jails." (*People v. Gutierrez* (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 380, 386.)

The Legislature first enacted a prison contraband law in 1899, making it a felony for any person not authorized by law to bring narcotics, liquor, or weapons into various custodial institutions. (*Low*, *supra*, 49 Cal.4th at pp. 387-388, discussing Stats. 1988, ch. 4, § 1, p. 4.) In 1901, a successor statute similarly made it a felony for any person not authorized by law to bring "any opium, morphine, cocaine, or other narcotic, or any intoxicating liquor of any kind whatever" into various custodial institutions. (Former Pen. Code, § 171a, added by Stats. 1901, ch. 158, § 43, pp. 445-446; see *Low*, *supra*, 49 Cal.4th at pp. 387-388.)

In 1941, "the Legislature overhauled part 3 of the Penal Code, and added title 5, regulating various crimes in custody." (*Low, supra*, 49 Cal.4th at p. 387.) In particular, the Legislature provided that any person, "not authorized by law," who brings into a custodial institution "any narcotic, the possession of which is prohibited by the State Narcotic Act, or any alcoholic beverage, is guilty of a felony." (Former Pen. Code, § 4573,

added by Stats. 1941, ch. 106, § 15, p. 1126.) The reference to the State Narcotic Act was already outdated; when the Legislature enacted the Health and Safety Code in 1939, it had moved the control of narcotics to division 10. (Stats. 1939, ch. 60, pp. 755-776.) The Legislature therefore amended the Penal Code to prohibit bringing into prison "any narcotic, the possession of which is prohibited by Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code ...." (Former Pen. Code, § 4573, as amended by Stats. 1941, ch. 1192, § 15, p. 2965.) In 1949, the Legislature broadened the scope of prohibited activities by making it a felony for any person to have "possession" of certain enumerated items, including "any narcotics, or drugs in any manner, shape, form, dispenser or container, or alcoholic beverage ...." (Former Pen. Code, § 4573.6, added by Stats. 1949, ch. 833, § 3, p. 1583.)

Over the years, the Legislature enacted additional statutes to keep contraband out of the State's custodial institutions. (See, e.g., former Pen. Code, § 4573, as amended by Stats. 1959, ch. 662, § 1, p. 2637 [making it a felony for any person to send or assist in either bringing or sending a controlled substance into a custodial institution]; Pen. Code, § 4573.9, added by Stats. 1990, ch. 1580, § 6, pp. 7556-7557 [making it a felony for any person "other than a person held in custody" to sell, furnish, administer, or give away a controlled substance "to any person held in custody"].) It also increased the existing penalties for bringing, sending, or possessing a controlled substance in a custodial institution by making the offenses punishable by two, three, or four years in prison. (Pen. Code, §§ 4573, 4573.6, as amended by Stats. 1990, ch. 1580, §§ 2, 4, pp. 7554-7556.)

As is relevant here, under the modern code, there are five main statutes addressing alcohol and drugs as contraband in custodial institutions.

Penal Code section 4573.5 prohibits smuggling by providing in relevant part:

Any person who knowingly brings into any state prison or other institution under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections, ... any alcoholic beverage, [or] any drugs, other than controlled substances ..., without having authority so to do by the rules of the Department of Corrections, the rules of the prison, ..., or by the specific authorization of the warden, ..., is guilty of a felony.

(Pen. Code, § 4573.5.) A sibling statute—Penal Code section 4573—addresses the smuggling of drugs that are controlled substances, and provides a higher penalty for violation.<sup>5</sup> It provides in relevant part:

Except when otherwise authorized by law, or when authorized by the person in charge of the prison ..., any person, who knowingly brings or sends into, or knowingly assists in bringing into, or sending into, any state prison, ..., any controlled substance, the possession of which is prohibited by Division 10 (commencing with Section 11000) of the Health and Safety Code, ..., is guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment ... for two, three, or four years.

(Pen. Code, § 4573, subd. (a).)

Substantially parallel statutes address unauthorized possession. Penal Code section 4573.8 provides:

Any person who knowingly has in his or her possession in any state prison, ..., drugs ..., or alcoholic beverages, without being authorized to possess the same by rules of the Department of Corrections, ..., or by the specific authorization of the warden, ..., is guilty of a felony.

(Pen. Code, § 4573.8.) Possession of drugs that are controlled substances is also prohibited and carries a higher penalty under Penal Code section 4573.6, which provides in relevant part:

Any person who knowingly has in his or her possession in any state prison, ..., any controlled substances, the possession of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The general term "drug" encompasses the specific term "controlled substances." (See Health & Saf. Code, § 11014.)

which is prohibited by Division 10 (commencing with Section 11000) of the Health and Safety Code, ..., without being authorized to so possess the same by the rules of the Department of Corrections, rules of the prison ..., or by the specific authorization of the warden, ..., is guilty of a felony punishable by imprisonment ... for two, three, or four years.

(Pen. Code, § 4573.6, subd. (a).)

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