SUPREME COURT CUPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

GOLDY RAYBON, DWAIN DAVIS, SCOTT WENDELL HAYNES, ANTHONY COOPER, JAMES POTTER,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No. S256978

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 23 2020

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case Nos. C084853, C084960, C084964, C084911, and C085101

Sacramento Superior Court Nos.
09F08248, 08F07402, 12F00411, 13F03230, and 06F11185
The Honorable Curtis M. Fiorini, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN GARRETT
PUBLIC DEFENDER, COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO
700 H STREET, SUITE 0270, SACRAMENTO

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did Proposition 64 voters decriminalize simple possession of a small amount of marijuana by adults on jail or prison grounds?

INTRODUCTION

On November 8, 2016, California voters were asked whether to enact a "MARIJUANA LEGALIZATION INITIATIVE STATUTE." It was sweeping legislation and its direction was unmistakable – to remove almost all criminal penalties for possession of small amounts of marijuana. The electorate said "yes" by a clear majority. In doing so, voters delivered a message that it was time to legalize marijuana and to end harsh sentences for mere possession of small amounts.

When Proposition 64 decriminalized possession and use of small amounts of marijuana by adults, it did so "notwithstanding any other provision of law," with limited articulated exceptions. (Health and Safety Code section 11362.1.) Pertinent here, the electorate permitted an exception to decriminalization: "Laws pertaining to smoking or ingesting marijuana" on jail or prison grounds. (Health and Safety Code section 11362.45(d).) A plain reading is that this exception is limited to laws relating to the acts of "smoking" or "ingesting" the substance.

Respondent advocates for a different interpretation of the exception.

Respondent asserts that "laws pertaining to smoking or ingesting marijuana"

is so broad that it is another way of saying "laws pertaining to marijuana." This is wrong at first blush and wrong under scrutiny. This argument collapses under the weight of a single question: If voters meant "laws pertaining to marijuana" on jail or prison grounds, why not simply say so?

Put another way, the terms "smoking or ingesting" were included in the text for a reason. Words matter. The logical interpretation is that the words "smoking or ingesting" had purpose – to make the exception specific to those kind of acts.

Respondent advocates for an alternate interpretation to create ambiguity where there is none. When a statute's meaning is plain, there is no need for further consideration. However, even if one looks further, the Voter Guide is bereft of any support for Respondent's interpretation and rich in support of the statute's plain meaning.

First, any interpretation should comport with the overall purpose of the initiative, with exceptions narrowly construed. The purpose of Proposition 64 was to remove criminal sanctions for possession of small amounts of marijuana. The Court of Appeal ruling is consistent with that.

Second, any interpretation should not contradict voter expectations.

Voters were told of the breadth of the changes and were directed to the few exceptions contained in the sweeping decriminalization. Voters endorsed

this concept. To overrule the Court of Appeal would frustrate that understanding.

Respondent asks this Court to maintain the Appellants' lengthy prison sentences for possession of marijuana, even though the voters supported the law's stated purpose and effect of comprehensive decriminalization. As the Court of Appeal observed below, the Attorney General's argument is nothing more than a policy disagreement. (*People v. Raybon* (2019) 36 Cal.App.5th 111, 124 ["The four ways the Attorney General suggests the purpose of Penal Code section 4573.6 would be undercut are all variations of the policy debate"].)

In sum, in defiance of rules of interpretation and contrary to the voters' intent, Respondent's interpretation flips the exception from limited to expansive. This ignores the statute's plain meaning, is contrary to common usage, reads critical language entirely out of the statute, and is antithetical to its purpose and context.

I.

THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE STATUTE IS THAT PROPOSITION 64 DECRIMINALIZED POSSESSION OF SMALL AMOUNTS OF MARIJUANA ON JAIL OR PRISON GROUNDS

When statutory language is clear, courts "must follow the language used and give to it its plain meaning, whatever may be thought of the wisdom,

expediency, or policy of the act ..." (People v. Weidert (1985) 39 Cal.3d 836, 843.)

[I]f there is no ambiguity in the language of the statute, then the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the language governs. Where the statute is clear, courts will not interpret away clear language in favor of an ambiguity that does not exist.

(*People v. Harris* (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 1456, 1458.) When the language is unambiguous, courts "may not add to the statute or rewrite it to conform to some assumed intent not apparent from the language." (*People v. Superior Court (Pearson)* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 564, 571.) The language of the laws enacted by Proposition 64 is not ambiguous.

A. The Proposition Used Plain Language to Decriminalize Possession and Use of Marijuana, Notwithstanding Any Other Law

Proposition 64 used the strongest and broadest of language in decriminalizing marijuana possession.

Subject to Sections 11362.2, 11362.3, 11362.4, and 11362.45, but notwithstanding any other provision of law, it shall be lawful under state and local law, and shall not be a violation of state or local law, for persons 21 years of age or older to: (1) Possess, process, transport, purchase, obtain, or give away to persons 21 years of age or older without any compensation whatsoever, not more than 28.5 grams of marijuana ...

(Health & Safety Code¹ section 11362.1(a) (emphasis added).) Under well-established California law, the use of the phrase "notwithstanding any other

¹ Hereafter, all statutory references will be to the Health and Safety Code unless otherwise stated.

provision of law" repeals other laws that are in conflict with it. "When the Legislature intends for a statute to prevail over all contrary law, it typically signals this intent by using phrases like 'notwithstanding any other law' or 'notwithstanding other provisions of law."" (*In re Greg F.* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 393, 406 [citations omitted].) "The statutory phrase 'notwithstanding any other law' has been called a 'term of art' [citation] that declares the legislative intent to override all contrary law." (*Caliber Bodyworks, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 365, 383, fn. 17, citing, *inter alia, In re Marriage of Cutler* (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 460, 475 ["notwithstanding any other provision of law" signals a broad application overriding all other code sections"] and *People v. Tillman* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 771, 783-785 [interpreting statute broadly to eliminate existing laws because of this language].)

This Court underscored the sweep of such language in *People v*.

Romanowski, explaining its meaning within Proposition 47:

Nothing in the text of the initiative suggested that the voters were implicitly leaving this form of theft out when they used the phrases "any other provision of law defining grand theft" and "obtaining any property by theft." (§ 490.2, subd. (a).) We deny a phrase like "any other provision of law" its proper impact if we expect a penal statute—whether enacted by the Legislature or the electorate—to further enumerate every provision of the Penal Code to which it is relevant. And we generally presume that the electorate is aware of existing laws. (*In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 890 & fn. 10 [210 Cal. Rptr. 63 1, 694 P.2d 744].) Here this means we must presume that voters were at least aware that the Penal Code sets out

"grand theft" crimes that included theft of access card account information. (§ 484e.)

(People v. Romanowski (2017) 2 Cal.5th 903, 908-909 (emphasis added).)

Proposition 64's "notwithstanding any other provision of law" provides the "formally expressed intent' to change the established status quo" that Respondent seeks. (Resp. Op. Br., at pp. 10 and 30.)

B. Section 11362.45(d) Plainly Stated That The Exception For Jail And Prison Grounds Was For Laws Pertaining To Consumption

Section 11362.1(a) comprehensively decriminalizes possession and use of marijuana, with limited exceptions, which are explicitly articulated in Sections 11362.2, 11362.3, 11362.4, and 11362.45. One of those exceptions speaks to marijuana² on jail or prison grounds.

Nothing in section 11362.1 shall be construed or interpreted to amend, repeal, affect, restrict, or preempt:

(d) Laws pertaining to smoking or ingesting marijuana or marijuana products on the grounds of, or within, any facility or institution under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation or the Division of Juvenile Justice, or on the grounds of, or within, any other facility or institution referenced in Section 4573 of the Penal Code.

² The term "marijuana" will be used throughout this brief because that was the term used in the initiative measure. However, the Legislature subsequently substituted the term "cannabis" for "marijuana" throughout the Health and Safety Code. (Stats. 2017, ch 27, sections 113-160.) Both terms mean "all parts of the plant Cannabis sativa L., whether growing or not; the seeds thereof; the resin extracted from any part of the plant; and every compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the plant, its seeds or resin." (Section 11018 (both former and amended versions).

(Section 11362.1(a).) A plain reading of this exception is that laws relating to smoking or ingesting, however written and regardless of the terms used to describe those acts, would not be repealed or preempted.

Respondent asserts that the words "pertaining to" is a catch-all term, and thus "smoking and ingesting" are mere proxies for possession, and all things marijuana. (Op. Br., at p. 29 and pp. 36-40.) However:

It is a wise and well-settled principle of statutory construction that "where the enacting clause is general in its language and objects, and a proviso is afterwards introduced, that proviso is construed strictly, and takes no case out of the enacting clause which does not fall fairly within its terms. In short, a proviso carves special exceptions only out of the enacting clause; and those who set up any such exception, must establish it as being within the words as well as within the reason thereof."

(People ex rel. San Francisco Bay Conservation & Development Com. v. Emeryville (1968) 69 Cal.2d 533 (citations omitted).)

Appellants agree that "pertaining to" is relative. (See Resp. Op. Br., at p. 36 [definitions feature the concepts of "relat[ing] directly to" or "belong[ing] as an attribute, feature, or function" or "belong[ing] or be connected as a part, adjunct, possession, or attribute"]; *People v. Perry*, (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 885, 891.) One must then ask, "What is it that the 'laws' in Section 11362.45 must directly relate to, or belong as a feature of?" The answer is provided by the words that immediately follow: "smoking or ingesting marijuana." Simply put, the "laws" that Section 11362.45 exempts from repeal must directly relate to smoking or ingesting marijuana.

The rules of statutory construction require us to "give [these words] 'a plain and commonsense meaning.'" (*People v. Harris*, *supra*, 145 Cal.App.4th, at 1465; see e.g., *People v. Low* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 372 [applying commonsense meaning to the terms "Any Person," "Brings," and "Knowingly" in Penal Code section 4573].) Yet Respondent presses this court to accept an unreasonably broad reading that does violence to the ordinary and common understanding of the term as employed in the statute. Respondent argues that the direct relation reference is "quite broad" and "it is reasonable to assume" encompassed the act of possession too. (Resp. Op. Br., at pp. 36-37.) This conjecture is unreasonable for three reasons.

1) Possession is a distinct and separate act from the acts of smoking and ingesting

It is true that there are few purposes for possessing a drug other than for some person to eventually use it. (Resp. Op. Br., at p. 37.) But, as Respondent conceded in the Court of Appeal, smoke, ingest, and possess are "distinct" terms and "each represents different conduct." (C.O.A. Resp. Br., at p.33; see also 15 C.C.R. section 3016 [stating inmates shall not "use, inhale, ingest, inject, or otherwise introduce [drugs] into their body" in subdivision (a) and separately forbidding inmates to "possess, manufacture, or have under their control any [drug]" in subdivision (b)].)

Different acts call for different responses. For this reason, the three different terms – possess, smoke, and ingest – are used with exactitude

throughout Proposition 64. For example, under the terms of Section 11362.3. separate exemptions from decriminalization apply to these separate acts. Subdivisions (a)(1), (a)(7), and (a)(8) exempt smoking or ingesting marijuana in specified places, whereas Subdivisions (a)(2) and (a)(3) exempt just the act of smoking marijuana and in different specified places. Subdivision (a)(4) exempts the possession of marijuana under certain circumstances. And Subdivision (a)(5) lists all three: possession, smoking, and ingesting. The three terms refer to separate and distinct acts and Proposition 64 addressed each with precision. The drafters knew how to reference possession when they wanted to – they used the term possession! It stretches the imagination to conclude that the drafters listed the two distinct activities of "smoking or ingesting," intending to include a third distinct activity, possession, by tangential reference. A voter would view possession outside the purview of Section 11362.45(d) because the distinct acts of "smoking or ingesting" are explicitly flagged but possession is not. The straight-forward, plain reading of the exemption is that it references only acts involving consumption of marijuana in prison.

2) Respondent's interpretation writes the words "smoking or ingesting" out of the statute

If "pertaining to smoking or ingesting marijuana" includes possession too, then Section 11362.45(d) applies to laws "pertaining to marijuana."

Using such an expansive view writes the limiting words – the acts which the

laws must pertain to – out of the statute completely. "[T]he Legislature does not engage in idle acts, and no part of its enactments should be rendered surplusage if a construction is available that avoids doing so." (*Mendoza v. Nordstrom, Inc.* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1074, 1087.) "We give significance to every word in the statute actually enacted to implement the legislative purpose and avoid a construction that makes some words surplusage." (*People v. Rodriguez* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 1125, 1133.)

To illustrate, the drafters wanted to "[a]llow public and private employers to enact and enforce policies pertaining to marijuana." (Prop 64., Section 3, subdivision (r) (emphasis added).) The fact that the drafters used "pertaining to smoking or ingesting marijuana" in Section 11362.45(d) proves a different intention (emphasis added).

Where a statute, with reference to one subject contains a given provision, the omission of such provision from a similar statute concerning a related subject . . . is significant to show that a different intention existed.

(Williams v. County of San Joaquin (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 1326, 1332.) "Smoking and ingesting" describes more targeted, less expansive conduct: consumption, "the ultimate evil with which [society is] concerned." (People v. Gutierrez (in Re Gutierrez) (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 380, 386.) As another example, the drafters used the restrictive word "cultivation" following "pertains to" when amending the Business and Professions Code. There, they authorized the Secretary of the Department of Food and Agriculture to

"administer this section as it pertains to the cultivation of marijuana" not "as it pertains to marijuana." (Business and Professions Code section 26067(a) (emphasis added).)

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